BYLAWS

OF

NEW YORK CITY LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

As of September 30, 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>J</u>	<u>PAGE</u>
ARTICLE I M	(• 1110 • 1 5 111 p	1
Section 1. Re	quirements for Membership; Appointment of Members; Vacancies	1
	embership Section	
Section 3. Co	onditions of Membership	2
Section 4. Re	signation	2
Section 5. Vo	oting	2
Section 6. An	nnual Meeting	2
Section 7. Spe	ecial Meetings	3
Section 8. No	otice of Meetings	3
	ocedure	
Section 10. Q	Duorum	4
Section 11. V	ote Required	5
	roxies - Voting	
	irectors	
Section 1. Ma	anagement of Corporate Affairs	5
	umber of Directors	
Section 3. Ele	ection of Directors; Term of Office; Vacancies	6
	alifications for Directors	
Section 5. Re	signation	6
	moval of Director	
	gular Meetings	
	ecial Meetings	
-	otice of Meetings	
	rocedure	
	duorum	
	ote Required	
	nnual Report	
	Compensation of Directors and Officers	
	ommittees	
Section 1. Exe	ecutive Committee	9
	ıdit Committee	
	signation, Composition, Quorum and Authority of Loan Review	
	ommittee	
	view of Acts of Loan Review Committee by Board of Directors	
	eetings of Committees	
	uthorization	
	nutes of Committee Meetings	
	Iditional Committees	
	strictions on Committees	
	fficers	
	ficers	

Section 2. Term of Office	14
Section 3. Chairperson	
Section 4. Vice Chairperson	
Section 5. President	
Section 6. Executive and Senior Vice Presidents	
Section 7. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries	16
Section 8. Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers	
Section 9. Removal	
Section 10. Bonds	18
Section 11. Execution of Contracts, Deeds and Agreements; Purcha	ases18
Section 12. Execution of Checks, Notes, Drafts and Other Negotial	
Wire Transfers	18
ARTICLE V Finances and Records	19
Section 1. Finances	19
Section 2. Fiscal Year	19
Section 3. Keeping and Inspection of Records	19
ARTICLE VI Miscellaneous	19
Section 1. Form of Corporate Seal	20
Section 2. Indemnification	
Section 3. Conflict of Interests	21
Section 4 Amendments	21

RESTATED BYLAWS

of

NEW YORK CITY LAND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

ARTICLE I

Membership

Section 1. Initial Members; Requirements for Membership; Appointment of Members; Vacancies. The initial Members of the Corporation are the initial Directors of the Corporation named in the Certificate of Incorporation. Thereafter, the Members of the Corporation shall be five (5) in number, all of whom shall be appointed by the Mayor of The City New York (the "Mayor"), and one of whom shall be designated by the Mayor to serve as Chairperson of the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

Each Member shall be a public official or a person prominent in the financial, commercial, industrial, professional or labor community of The City of New York (the "City"). No Member of the Corporation shall be a Member or Director of the New York City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger.

A Member may be an official or employee of the City or any agency of the City.

Members shall be appointed annually prior to or on the date of the annual meeting of Members. Each Member, including Members appointed to fill vacancies as provided below, shall serve as such until (a) the appointment of his/her successor or (b) his/her earlier death or resignation. If at any time there is less than the prescribed number of appointed Members, the Mayor may appoint a person having the qualifications to be such Member to fill such vacancy,

provided that the appointment of a Member to fill a vacancy shall be made in the manner prescribed above for the appointment of Members.

Section 2. Membership Section. There shall be a Membership section for the election of Directors which shall be comprised of all the Members. Only such Membership section shall be entitled to elect Directors.

Section 3. Conditions of Membership. By acceptance of membership, Members agree with each other and with the Corporation that the Corporation shall be non-profit. All income and earnings of the Corporation shall be used exclusively for its corporate purposes as set forth in the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 4. Resignation. Any Member may resign at any time upon notice to the President. Such resignation shall take effect upon announcement or, if such notice is in writing, upon receipt or at the time specified in the notice; and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 5. Voting. Each Member shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote of Members. Upon direction of the presiding officer or upon demand by a Member, the vote upon any question before a meeting shall be by ballot, but otherwise any such vote need not be by ballot.

Section 6. Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the Members, for the election of Directors and for the transaction of such other business as may come before the meeting, shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation, 110 William Street, New York, New York, on the first Wednesday in the month of November at 8:30 a.m., or at such other place within New York City or at such other time as the Members, Board of Directors, the Chairperson or the President may prescribe. If the first Wednesday in the month of November is a legal holiday in any year,

the meeting shall be held at the same place on the next business day following that is not a legal holiday at 8:30 a.m., or at such other place within the City or at such other time as the Members, Board of Directors, the Chairperson or the President may prescribe.

Section 7. Special Meetings. A special meeting of the Members, other than those regulated by statute, shall be called by the Chairperson or the President at the request in writing of Members having 10% or more of the total number of votes that may be cast at such meeting, or by the Chairperson or the President. The President or Chairperson shall fix the time and place for such meeting and the Secretary shall give notice as required by Section 8 of this Article.

Section 8. Notice of Meetings. Written notice of each meeting of the Members shall be given not less than ten (10), nor more than fifty (50), days before such meeting by first class mail, postage prepaid, delivery in person, facsimile telecommunication, or electronic mail. If notice is sent by first class mail or delivered in person, it shall be directed to each Member at his/her address as it appears on the record of Members of the Corporation, or, if such Member shall have filed with the Secretary a written request that notices to him/her be mailed or delivered to some other address, then directed to such Member at such other address. If notice is sent by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail, it shall be directed to the Member's fax number or electronic mail address as it appears on the record of Members, or to such fax number or other electronic mail address as has been filed with the Secretary of the Corporation. Notice shall not be deemed to have been given by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail if: (a) the Corporation is unable to deliver two (2) consecutive notices to the Member by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail; or (b) the Corporation otherwise becomes aware that notice cannot be delivered to the Member by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice may be waived, either before or after the meeting, by any

Member or his/her proxy, in writing or electronically. If in writing, the Member may sign a written waiver of notice or cause his/her signature to be affixed to a waiver of notice by any reasonable means, including but not limited to facsimile signature. If electronic, the transmission of the waiver must be sent by electronic mail and set forth, or be submitted with, information from which it can reasonably be determined that the submission was authorized by the Member. Notice may also be waived by attending the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, lack of notice to him/her. The notice shall set forth the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the general nature of the business to be transacted and by or at whose direction the special meeting is called. Meetings of the Members may also be held at any place and time without notice by unanimous written consent of all of the Members.

<u>Section 9. Procedure</u>. The order of business and all other matters of procedure at every meeting of Members shall be determined by the presiding officer.

Section 10. Conference Call Meetings. Members may participate in meetings of the Members by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment or by electronic video screen communication. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at the meeting as long as all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time and each Member can participate in all matters before the Members, including, without limitation, the ability to propose, object to, and vote upon a specific action to be taken by the Members.

Section 11. Quorum. A meeting of the Members duly called shall not be organized for the transaction of business unless a quorum is present. The presence in person or by proxy of a majority of the Members shall constitute a quorum unless otherwise provided by law. If a

quorum is not present, a majority of the Members present may adjourn the meeting from time to time to such time and place as they may determine, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until enough Members to constitute a quorum shall attend. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it is not broken by the subsequent withdrawal of any Members.

Section 12. Vote Required. All questions, except those for which the manner of deciding is specifically prescribed by law, the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation or these bylaws, shall be determined by a majority vote of the Members present in person or by proxy at any meeting at which a quorum is present.

Section 13. Proxies - Voting. A Member may vote either in person or by proxy appointed by an instrument executed in writing by such Member or his/her duly authorized attorney and delivered to the secretary of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after the expiration of eleven (11) months from the date of its execution unless the Member or his/her duly authorized attorney executing it shall have specified therein its duration. Every proxy shall be revocable at any time at the pleasure of the Member on whose behalf it was executed or his/her duly authorized attorney.

<u>ARTICLE II</u>

Directors

Section 1. Management of Corporate Affairs. The general management of the affairs of the Corporation shall be vested in a Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have control of the property of the Corporation and shall fix its policies. It shall have power to employ necessary staff and other personnel, authorize expenditures, and take all necessary and proper steps to carry out the purposes of the Corporation and to promote its best interest.

Section 2. Number of Directors. The Directors of the Corporation shall be five (5) in number.

Section 3. Election of Directors; Term of Office; Vacancies. The Membership section for the election of Directors shall elect the Board of Directors at each annual meeting of the Members. Each Director shall hold office until (a) the later of the next annual meeting or the election and qualification of his/her successor, or (b) his/her earlier death, resignation or removal, or (c) such Director shall have ceased for any reason to be a Member.

In the case of any vacancy on the Board of Directors for any reason, such vacancy may be filled by vote of the Membership section for the election of Directors at any annual meeting or special meeting of the Members.

Section 4. Qualifications for Directors. Directors must be Members at the time of their election. No Director of the Corporation shall be a Member or Director of the New York City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger.

Section 5. Resignation. Any Director may resign at any time upon notice to the President. Such resignation shall take effect upon announcement or, if such notice is in writing, upon receipt or at the time specified in the notice; and, unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 6. Removal of Director. Any Director may be removed, either with or without cause, at any meeting of Members, notice of which shall have referred to the proposed action, by the vote in person or by proxy of a majority of the Members entitled to vote.

Section 7. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such time and place within or without the State of New York as the Board of Directors, the Chairperson or the President may from time to time prescribe.

Section 8. Special Meetings. A special meeting of the Board of Directors, other than those regulated by statute, shall be called by the Chairperson or the President at the request in writing of two (2) or more Directors, or by the Chairperson or the President. The President or Chairperson shall fix the time and place for such meeting and give notice as required by Section 9 of this Article.

Section 9. Notice of Meetings. Written notice of each meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given not less than three (3) days before such meeting by first class mail, postage prepaid, delivery in person, facsimile telecommunication, or electronic mail. If notice is sent by first class mail or delivered in person, it shall be directed to each Director at his/her address as it appears on the record of Directors of the Corporation, or, if such Director shall have filed with the Secretary a written request that notices to him/her be mailed or delivered to some other address, then directed to such Director at such other address. If notice is sent by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail, it shall be directed to the Director's fax number or electronic mail address as it appears on the record of Directors of the Corporation, or to such fax number or other electronic mail address as has been filed with the Secretary of the Corporation. Notice shall not be deemed to have been given by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail if: (a) the Corporation is unable to deliver two (2) consecutive notices to the Director by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail; or (b) the Corporation otherwise becomes aware that notice cannot be delivered to the Director by facsimile telecommunication or electronic mail. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice may be waived, either before or after the meeting, by any

Director, in writing or electronically. If in writing, the Director may sign a written waiver of notice or cause his/her signature to be affixed to a waiver of notice by any reasonable means, including but not limited to facsimile signature. If electronic, the transmission of the waiver must be sent by electronic mail and set forth, or be submitted with, information from which it can reasonably be determined that the submission was authorized by the Director. Notice may also be waived by attending the meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, lack of notice to him/her. The notice shall set forth the place, day and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the general nature of the business to be transacted and by or at whose direction the special meeting is called. Meetings of the Board of Directors may also be held at any place and time without notice by unanimous written consent of all the Directors.

<u>Section 10. Procedure</u>. The order of business and all other matters of procedure at every meeting of Directors shall be determined by the presiding officer.

Section 11. Quorum. A meeting of the Board of Directors duly called shall not be organized for the transaction of business unless a quorum is present. A quorum for the transaction of business shall consist of three (3) Directors.

If a quorum is not present, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time to such time and place as they may determine, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until enough Directors to constitute a quorum shall attend. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it is not broken by the subsequent withdrawal of any Directors.

Section 12. Vote Required. Unless otherwise provided by law, the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation or these bylaws, the acts of a majority of the Directors present at a

meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the acts of the Board of Directors, provided, however, that the Corporation may not exercise its powers to purchase, sell, mortgage, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of real property, unless authorized by at least a majority of the sitting Board of Directors.

Section 13. Annual Report. At the annual meeting of the Members the Directors shall present to the Members an annual report showing the financial and other affairs of the Corporation as required by law.

Section 14. Compensation of Directors and Officers. No Director or other officer of the Corporation shall receive compensation from the Corporation either as a Director or an officer or in any other capacity, except reasonable compensation for services rendered in effecting one or more of its corporate purposes.

ARTICLE III

Committees

Section 1. Executive Committee. The Board of Directors may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board of Directors, designate an Executive Committee, consisting of at least three (3) but not more than four (4) Directors, one (1) of whom must be the Chairperson of the Board of Directors. During the intervals between the meetings of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee, to the extent permitted by law, the resolution, the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation and these bylaws, shall have all the authority of the Board of Directors, except in relation to the Corporation's purchase, sale, mortgage, lease, exchange or other disposition of real property. A quorum for the transaction of business shall consist of two (2) members of the Executive Committee. If a quorum of the Board of Directors is not present at

a meeting of the Board of Directors, and if a majority of the Directors present at such meeting so request, the Executive Committee shall meet immediately upon the adjournment of such meeting of the Board of Directors, and no notice of such meeting of the Executive Committee shall be required.

Section 2. Audit Committee. The Board of Directors shall, by resolution passed by a majority of the entire Board of Directors, create a standing audit committee (the "Audit Committee") consisting of three (3) or more Directors, each of whom is an "Independent Committee Member" as defined in Section 4 of this Article. The Audit Committee shall recommend to the Board of Directors the hiring of a certified independent accounting firm of the Corporation, establish the compensation to be paid to the accounting firm and provide direct oversight of the performance of the independent audit performed by the accounting firm hired for such purposes. To the extent practicable, members of the Audit Committee should be familiar with corporate financial and accounting practices.

Section 3. Governance Committee. The Board of Directors shall, by resolution passed by a majority of the entire Board of Directors, create a standing governance committee (the "Governance Committee") consisting of three (3) or more Directors, each of whom is an "Independent Committee Member", as defined in Section 4 of this Article, and who shall possess the necessary skills to understand the duties and functions of the Governance Committee. The Governance Committee shall keep the Board of Directors informed of current best governance practices, review corporate governance trends, recommend updates to the Corporation's governance principles, and advise appointing authorities of the skills and experiences required of potential Members. In addition, the Governance Committee shall examine ethical and conflicts

of interest issues, perform Board self-evaluations and recommend bylaws which include rules and procedures for conduct of Board business.

Section 4. Independent Committee Members. An "Independent Committee Member" shall mean a person who is "independent" as defined by the Public Authorities Accountability Act of 2005, as amended (PAAA), which requires that the Director:

- (a) is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been, employed by the Corporation or an affiliate of the Corporation in an executive capacity;
- (b) is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been, employed by an entity that received remuneration valued at more than \$15,000.00 for goods and services provided to the Corporation or an affiliate or received any other form of financial assistance valued at more than \$15,000.00 from the Corporation or an affiliate;
- (c) is not a relative of an executive officer or employee in an executive position of the Corporation or an affiliate; and
- (d) is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been, a lobbyist registered under a state or local law and paid by a client to influence the management decisions, contract awards, rate determinations or other similar actions of the Corporation or an affiliate.

An "affiliate" for purposes of the foregoing is any person or corporation or other entity controlled, controlled by or under substantially the same control as the Corporation.

Section 5. Meetings of Committees. Any committee of the Board of Directors (with regard to such committee) or the Board of Directors (with regard to all committees) shall have

the power to fix the time and place of holding regular or special meetings of committees and the method of giving notice thereof; but unless otherwise prescribed, meetings of any committee may be called in the same manner and upon the same notice, and notice of such meetings may be waived in the same manner, as provided in these bylaws with respect to meetings of the Board of Directors.

Section 6. Authorization. The acts of a majority of the members of a committee present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the acts of such committee, unless otherwise provided by law, the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation or these bylaws. If a quorum is not present, a majority of the members of the committee present may adjourn the meeting from time to time to such time and place as they may determine, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until enough members of such committee to constitute a quorum shall attend. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it is not broken by the subsequent withdrawal of any members of the committee.

Section 7. Minutes of Committee Meetings. Each Committee shall keep regular minutes of all its meetings and proceedings. The said minutes shall be open to the inspection of any Director at any time.

Section 8. Additional Committees. In addition to the Executive Committee, Audit Committee, and Governance Committee, the Board of Directors shall have the power from time to time to appoint additional committees and to prescribe the tenure of office and the powers and duties of such committees.

Section 9. Restrictions on Committees. No committee of the Board of Directors: (a) may consist of fewer than three (3) Directors; or (b) has authority as to the following matters: (i) the submission to the Members of any action requiring Members' approval under the law, the

Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation or these bylaws; (ii) the filling of vacancies in the Board of Directors or in any committee; (iii) the fixing of compensation of the Directors for serving on the Board of Directors or on any committee thereof; (iv) the amendment or repeal of these bylaws or the adoption of new bylaws; or (v) the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board of Directors which by its terms is not so amendable or repealable.

ARTICLE IV

Officers

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the Corporation shall be a Chairperson, such Vice Chairpersons as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine, a President, such Executive Vice Presidents and Senior Vice Presidents as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine, a Treasurer and a Secretary, and such Assistant Treasurers and Assistant Secretaries as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.

The Chairperson shall be the Member specified as such in these bylaws. None of the other officers, except a Vice Chairperson, need be a Member or Director. The Chairperson and the President may be the same person, the Secretary and the Treasurer may be the same person and any Executive Vice President or Senior Vice President may also hold the office of Vice Chairperson, Secretary or Treasurer. The President and the Secretary may not be the same person.

The Board of Directors may elect such other officers as it shall deem necessary, who shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

An officer of the Corporation may be an official or employee of the City or any agency of the City.

Any officer of the Corporation who is an officer, member or director of the New York
City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation
or merger, will not attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise and will not
direct or encourage any individual or entity to attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or
otherwise, either as an officer of the Corporation or as an officer of the New York City
Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or
merger.

Section 2. Term of Office. The Chairperson shall hold office while he/she continues to be the Member specified as such in the bylaws. Each other officer, except the President, shall be elected annually by each new Board of Directors at a meeting following the election of such Board of Directors, or as soon as practicable thereafter, and shall hold his/her respective office until (a) the later of the next annual meeting or the election and qualification of his/her successor or (b) his/her earlier death, resignation or removal. The Board of Directors may elect the President for a term coinciding with the term of his/her contract, if he/she has one. Any vacancy occurring in one of the offices, except the Chairperson, may be filled at any ensuing meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Chairperson. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings of the Members and of the Board of Directors at which he/she shall be present, and he/she shall perform such other duties as are incident to his/her office, or as are assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors.

Section 4. Vice Chairperson. The Vice Chairperson, or if there is more than one Vice Chairperson, then one of them, as may be agreed among them, shall preside at meetings of Members and of the Board of Directors in the absence of the Chairperson and the President. The Vice Chairperson or Vice Chairpersons shall perform other duties as are assigned to him/her or them by the Board of Directors or the Chairperson.

Section 5. President. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and shall have general charge and supervision of and authority over all the business and affairs of the Corporation, subject to the control and direction of the Board of Directors. He/She shall also perform such other duties as are incident to his/her office or as are assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors or the Chairperson. The President shall preside at meetings of the Members and of the Board of Directors in the absence of the Chairperson and at meetings of the Executive Committee in the absence of its chairperson. The President will not attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise and will not direct or encourage any individual or entity to attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise, either as an officer of the Corporation or as an officer of the New York City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger.

Section 6. Executive and Senior Vice Presidents. The Executive Vice Presidents and Senior Vice Presidents may be designated by such title or titles as the Board of Directors may determine. At the request of the President, an Executive Vice President or Senior Vice President shall perform the duties and exercise the functions of the President. In addition, in the President's absence, an Executive Vice President, or Executive Vice Presidents in such order as the Chairperson may from time to time designate, shall perform the duties and exercise the functions of the President. The Executive Vice Presidents and Senior Vice Presidents shall

perform such other duties as may be assigned to them by the Board of Directors or the President.

The Executive Vice Presidents and Senior Vice Presidents will not attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise and will not direct or encourage any individual or entity to attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise, either as officers of the Corporation or as officers of the New York City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger.

Section 7. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries. The Secretary shall issue notices of all meetings of Members and Directors when notices of such meetings are required by law or these bylaws. He/She shall attend all meetings of Members and Directors and keep the minutes thereof, and shall have charge of the records of the Corporation. He/She shall have custody of the corporate seal, shall affix the corporate seal to and sign such instruments as require the seal and his/her signature, and shall perform such other duties as are incident to his/her office or as are properly required of him/her by the Board of Directors or the President. The Secretary will not attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise and will not direct or encourage any individual or entity to attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise, either as an officer of the Corporation or as an officer of the New York City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger.

Any Assistant Secretary shall perform such duties as may be assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors or the President. At the request of the Secretary or in the absence of the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Secretary.

Section 8. Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers. The Treasurer shall have the care and custody of all the moneys and securities of the Corporation. He/She shall deposit moneys

received by him/her for the Corporation in the name of the Corporation as provided in Article V, Section 1. He/She shall cause to be entered in books of the Corporation to be kept for the purpose full and accurate accounts of all moneys received by him/her and paid by him/her on account of the Corporation. He/She shall make and sign such reports, statements and instruments as may be required of him/her by law or the Board of Directors, and shall perform such other duties as are incident to his/her office or as are properly required of him/her by the Board of Directors or the President. The Treasurer will not attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise and will not direct or encourage any individual or entity to attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise, either as an officer of the Corporation or as an officer of the New York City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger.

Any Assistant Treasurer shall perform such duties as may be assigned to him/her by the Board of Directors or the President. At the request of the Treasurer or in the absence of the Treasurer, an Assistant Treasurer shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Treasurer.

Section 9. Employees. Any employee of the Corporation who is an employee of the New York City Economic Development Corporation or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger, will not attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise and will not direct or encourage any individual or entity to attempt to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise, either as an employee of the Corporation or as an employee of the New York City Economic Development Corporation, or any successor to such corporation by consolidation or merger.

Section 10. Removal. Any officer elected by the Board of Directors may be removed, either with or without cause, at any meeting of Directors, notice of which shall have referred to the proposed action, by vote of two-thirds of the sitting Board of Directors. If the President is the Chief Financial Officer of New York City Economic Development Corporation, then the President shall be deemed removed upon his/her removal from the office of Chief Financial Officer of the New York City Economic Development Corporation.

Section 11. Bonds. The Board of Directors may require any officer, agent or employee of the Corporation to give a bond to the Corporation for the faithful performance of his/her duties, with one or more sureties and in such amount as may be satisfactory to the Board of Directors. The expense of such bond shall be borne by the Corporation.

Section 12. Execution of Contracts, Deeds and Agreements; Purchases. All authorized contracts, deeds and agreements may be executed and purchases may be made in the name of the Corporation by the Chairperson, a Vice Chairperson, the President, any Executive Vice President and such other officer or officers or other person or persons as the Board of Directors may from time to time allow.

Section 13. Execution of Checks, Notes, Drafts and Other Negotiable Instruments and Wire Transfers. All checks, notes, drafts and other negotiable instruments shall be signed by, and wire transfers of funds of the Corporation shall be authorized by (a) two (2) of the following officers: the Chairperson, a Vice Chairperson, the President, the Treasurer, any Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President, or such other officer or officers as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate for that purpose or (b) by one (1) of the officers listed in (a) above and by one (1) of the following officers: the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, any Assistant

Treasurer or such other officer or officers as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate for that purpose.

ARTICLE V

Finances and Records

Section 1. Finances. The funds of the Corporation shall be deposited in its name with such bank or banks, trust company or trust companies as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate. No officers, agents or employees of the Corporation, alone or with others, shall have the power to make any checks, notes, drafts or other negotiable instruments in the name of the Corporation or to bind the Corporation thereby, except as herein provided.

<u>Section 2. Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall end on June 30th, unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Keeping and Inspection of Records. There shall be kept, at the principal office of the Corporation, a complete set of the books and records of the Corporation. They shall include, but not be limited to, the bylaws, minutes of meetings, a Membership roll containing the names of all persons who are Members, and such other books, records and papers of the Corporation as the Members or the Board of Directors shall require. These records shall be open to inspection by any Member or Director upon at least five (5) days' written demand for such inspection.

ARTICLE VI

Miscellaneous

Section 1. Form of Corporate Seal. The seal of the Corporation shall be circular in form with the name of the Corporation in the outer circle and the words "Corporate Seal 2012 New York" in the inner circle. The seal on any corporate obligation for the payment of money may be facsimile, engraved or printed.

Section 2. Indemnification. To the maximum extent permitted by law, the Corporation shall indemnify each Director and officer, whether or not then in office, who is made or threatened to be made a party to any action, suit or proceeding, civil or criminal, arising out of such Director's or officer's act or omission to act as a Director or officer of the Corporation, against (a) the reasonable expenses, costs and counsel fees incurred by him/her in the defense of such action, suit or proceeding and (b) amounts paid or incurred pursuant to a judgment or in settlement of any such action, suit or proceeding.

Subject to the provisions of this Section 2 of this Article, the Corporation shall indemnify each employee of the Corporation, whether or not then so employed, other than an officer or Director acting in such capacity, who is made or threatened to be made a party to any action, suit or proceeding, civil or criminal, arising out of the scope of his/her employment against (a) the reasonable expenses, costs and counsel fees incurred by him/her in the defense of such action, suit or proceeding and (b) amounts paid or incurred pursuant to a judgment or in settlement of any such action, suit or proceeding. Such indemnification shall be conditional upon (a) a finding made by the Board of Directors that the employee acted in good faith for a purpose which he/she reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the Corporation and that he/she had no reasonable cause to believe that his/her conduct was unlawful, (b) the employee's reasonably prompt delivery to the Corporation of written notice of the action, suit or proceeding and (c) unless defended by the Corporation, the employee's retention of counsel satisfactory to the

Corporation and the Corporation's determination that the defense and any settlement of such action, suit or proceeding is satisfactory. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of other rights to which any employee may be entitled as a matter of law.

Section 3. Conflict of Interests. In the event the Corporation proposes to enter into a contract or transaction in which a Director or officer is interested directly or indirectly (an "Interested Party"), the Board of Directors and a committee of the Board of Directors that is otherwise authorized to approve the contract or transaction are authorized to vote to approve the contract or transaction. The Interested Party shall forthwith make disclosure to the Board of Directors or committee of the Board of Directors (whichever will approve the contract or transaction) of the nature and extent of his/her interest and such disclosure shall be entered in writing in the minutes of the meeting called to authorize such contract or transaction. An Interested Party shall not participate in the deliberations and vote on any matter relating to his/her interest, provided that nothing in this Section 3 shall prohibit the Board of Directors or authorized committee from requesting that an Interested Party present information concerning a transaction in which the Interested Party has an interest at a Board of Directors or committee meeting, prior to the commencement of deliberations or voting relating thereto.

Section 4. Amendments. These bylaws may be added to, altered, amended or repealed at any regular or special meeting of the Members or of the Board of Directors by a vote of at least a majority of the entire Board of Directors, except that (a) any provision of these bylaws that provides for a larger quorum or action by a larger vote than specified in New York's Not-for-Profit Corporation Law may be added to, altered, amended or repealed only by the vote of two-thirds of the Members entitled to vote and (b) if any bylaw regulating an impending election of Directors is adopted, altered, amended or repealed by the Board of Directors, there shall be set

forth in the notice of the next meeting of Members for the election of Directors the bylaw so adopted, altered, amended or repealed, together with a concise statement of the changes made.